### Court of Appeals, Division II – No. 46067-0-II

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERI CAMPBELL,	)
Petitioner,	)
vs.	)
TACOMA PUBLIC SCHOOLS, a/k/a TACOMA PUBLIC	)
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 10,	)
Respondent.	)

COURT OF APPRALS
2016 JUN 13 PH 2: 25
2016 JUN 13 PH 2: 25
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY DEPUTY

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Joseph W. Evans, WSBA # 29877 Attorney for Teri Campbell Law Offices of Joseph W. Evans P.O. Box 519 Bremerton, WA 98337-0124 Phone – (360) 782-2418 Fax – (360) 782-2419 joe@jwevanslaw.com

# **

II.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
III.	COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, DECISION
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
VI.	ARGUMENT12
	Contrary to Vinson, the Court of Appeals Conflates the RCW 28A.405.300 Probable Cause Standard for the Notice of Probable Cause with the RCW 28A.405.310(8) Preponderance of the Evidence Standard Required for an Adverse Contract Action
	There Was No Evidence of Impairment of Performance and No Evidence that the Failure to Report Was Not Remediable
	The Court of Appeals Did Not Address the Nexus Between the Misconduct – Failure to Report – and Teaching Effectiveness as Required by Due Process
	Random Drug Testing as Discipline in This Matter is <i>Ultra Vires</i>
	The Overly Broad Application of TPS Policy 5201 Violated the Americans with Disabilities Act and EEOC Guidelines
	Imposition of Discipline on Teachers is Governed by a Detailed Statutory Scheme and the Case Law Developed Thereunder and is a Matter of Substantial Public Interest
VII.	CONCLUSION
VIII.	<u>APPENDIX</u>
Court	of Appeals, Division II, Decision, dated May 8, 2016
Court and A	of Appeals, Division II, Order Denying Respondent's Motion for Reconsideration mending Opinion, dated May 17, 2016
RCW	28A.405.300 RCW 28A.405.380

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# **CASES**

Briggs v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1
165 Wn.App. 286, 266 P.3d 911 (Div. 1 2011)14
Clarke v. Shoreline Sch. Dist. No. 412
106 Wn.2d 102, 720 P.2d 793 (1986)
Federal Way School District v. Vinson
172 Wn.2d 756, 261 P.3d 145 (2011)
Griffith v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1
165 Wn.App. 663, 266 P.3d 932 (Div. 1 2011)14
Hoagland v. Mount Vernon Sch. Dist. No. 320
95 Wn.2d 424, 623 P.2d 1156 (1981)
Puletasi v. Wills
290 Fed.Appx. 14 (9th Cir. 2008)
Roe v. Cheyenne Mountain Conference Resort, Inc.
124 F.3d 1221 (10th Cir. 1997)19
United Food & Commercial Workers Union v. Foster Food Products
1994 WL 570367 (E.D. Cal. 1994)
Wojt v. Chimacum School Dist. No. 49
9 Wn.App.857, 516 P.2d 1099 (Div. 2 1973)
Yakima Police Patrolmen's Ass'n. v. City of Yakima
153 Wn.App. 541, 222 P.3d 1217 (Div. 2 2009)

# **STATUTES AND RULES**

RCW 28A.405.300	
RCW 28A.405.310	
RCW 28A.405.320	
RCW 28A.405.330	
RCW 28A.405.340	A-24
RCW 28A.405.350	
RCW 28A.405.360	
RCW 28A.405.370	
RCW 28A.405.380	
RAP 12.4	
RAP 13.4	
RAP 14.1	

### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Teri Campbell was the Petitioner in the RCW 28A.405.300 statutory hearing before Hearing Officer, Judge Terry Lukens (ret.), the Appellant in the RCW 28A.405.320 appeal to the Superior Court, Pierce County, before Judge Kathryn J. Nelson, Case No. 13-2012835-2 and the Respondent in the Tacoma Public Schools ("TPS") appeal to the Court of Appeals, Division II, Case No. 46067-0-11.

Teri Campbell is the Petitioner in this RAP 13.4 Petition for Review to the Supreme Court.

### **COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, DECISION**

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed its published opinion in this matter on March 8, 2016. A timely RAP 12.4 Motion for Reconsideration was filed by Teri Campbell on March 28, 2016. On March 29, 2016, the Court of Appeals ordered TPS to file an answer to the Motion for Reconsideration. On May 17, 2016, the Court of Appeals filed an Order Denying [Teri Campbell's] Motion for Reconsideration and Amending [the Court of Appeals] Opinion of March 8, 2016.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Campbell presents the following issues for review:

- (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals incorrectly conflates the probable cause standard of RCW 28A.405.300 with the preponderance of the evidence for sufficient cause requirement of RCW 28A.405.310(8), contrary to this Court's decision in <u>Vinson</u>,<sup>1</sup> and, thereby, reaches an erroneous decision.
- (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals overlooked the need to find impairment of performance and lack of remediability before discipline could be imposed as required by <u>Vinson</u>,<sup>2</sup> <u>Clarke</u><sup>3</sup> and <u>Hoagland</u>.<sup>4</sup>
- (3) the decision of the Court of Appeals failed to consider that a finding of sufficient cause for an adverse action against a teacher must include a "nexus between the misconduct and teaching effectiveness." Because the nexus requirement is rooted in the constitution and "it would violate due process . . . . without showing actual impairment to performance."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Federal Way School Dist. No. 210 v. Vinson, 172 Wn.2d 756, 261 P.3d 145 (2011).

<sup>~ &</sup>lt;u>ld</u>.

Clarke v. Shoreline School Dist. No. 412, 106 Wn 2d 102, 720 P.2d 793 (1986).
 Hoagland v. Mount Vernon School Dist. No. 320, 95 Wn.2d 424, 623 P.2d 1156 (1981).

Vinson, supra, 172 Wn.2d at 771, 261 P.3d at 153.
 Hoagland, supra, 95 Wn.2d at 429, 623 P.2d at 1159

- (4) the decision of the Court of Appeals, which upholds the imposition of a three-year random drug testing regimen, is *ultra vires* and conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals in <u>Yakima Police</u> Patrolmen's Ass'n. v. City of Yakima, 153 Wn.App. 541, 547-48, 222 P.3d 1217, 1221-22 (Div. 2 2009).
- (5) the TPS actions in this matter -- medical inquiries and TPS-mandated psychiatric IME, disciplinary, 15-day suspension without pay and random drug testing for three years -- violate the ADA and EEOC guidelines.
- (6) the requirements for the imposition of discipline on teachers have been governed by a detailed, statutory scheme and the case law developed thereunder for over 40 years and is a matter of substantial public interest because teachers are in a highly-regulated profession that requires exemplary service such that an improvidently-imposed disciplinary finding can all but foreclose future employment opportunities in the teaching profession.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Teri Campbell (hereinaster "Teri Campbell," "Campbell" or "Teri") started teaching in 2002.<sup>7</sup> She taught U.S. history, language arts, highly capable program, reading and social studies at TPS's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 92, lines 23-24.

Mason Middle School.<sup>8</sup> Campbell was diagnosed with Guillain-Barre Syndrome ("GBS") in 2006.<sup>9</sup> She had an intrathecal pump installed in 2007.<sup>10</sup> She reported to her principal, in 2007, that she had an intrathecal pump that administered pain medications.<sup>11</sup> In the ensuing years, the principal always asked, "How is your health? – How are you doing?"<sup>12</sup> Teri had thyroid cancer and a thyroidectomy in the summer of 2011.<sup>13</sup> She had no health issues that prevented her from working.<sup>14</sup>

Campbell took other medications.<sup>15</sup> However, those medications stayed at home except for her Novolog pen (insulin).<sup>16</sup> She had no side-effects from using the intrathecal pump and stated, "I don't know that it's going!"<sup>17</sup> Teri never experienced a fainting spell, dizziness or nausea at work<sup>18</sup> and she did not go to work if she felt dizzy.<sup>19</sup> She only took "drowsy-type" medications after work<sup>20</sup> and she did not take <u>oral</u> pain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 93, lines 17-22 and CP 523, lines 1-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 95, lines 3-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 96, lines 11-25 and CP 97, lines 1-13. Campbell had a new intrathecal pump installed in April 2013. CP 98, lines 1-4. As a result of having this new pump installed, Teri was able to forego the use of a wheelchair, motorized scooter, walker or cane on a regular basis. CP 97, lines 5-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 535, lines 10-25; CP 536, lines 1-25; CP 537, lines 1-15; CP 560, line 2; and, CP 561, line 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 536, lines 15-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 524, lines 15-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> CP 523, lines 20-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> CP 832 – 833.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 525, line 25, and CP 526, lines 1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> CP 97, lines 11-16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 557, lines 14-15; CP 130, lines 24-25; and, CP 131, lines 1-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 126, lines 21-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 557, lines 19-20.

medication before the start of the work day or during the work day. Instead, she had to wait until she got home, after work, and then she could take her <u>oral</u> pain medication.<sup>21</sup>

Prior to November 2, 2011, Campbell never had any problems operating her car – no auto accidents and no driving citations.<sup>22</sup> However, on the way to school, on November 2, 2011, she blacked out and had an accident. This is the one and only episode she ever had of this nature.<sup>23</sup>

Prior to this accident, Teri Campbell had no record of disciplinary actions and was considered "a teacher in good standing." She was ultimately placed on paid administrative leave on January 5, 2012, as a result of the November 2, 2011 accident. However, she was allowed to return to teaching for the 2012-2013 school year and, in fact, did so without any problems that school year. 26

Following the November 2, 2011 auto accident, Campbell was directed by TPS to have her treating physicians submit letters to TPS regarding her medication regimen. Campbell's primary care physician, Diane Reineman, MD, stated in a January 13, 2012 letter to TPS:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 102, lines 3-18 and CP 148, lines 3-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 131, lines 2-3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 186, lines 20-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 77, lines 10-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP 777

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP 174, lines 14-22.

Campbell's "current medications taken as directed, that I regulate do not impair Teri's ability to teach or her fitness for duty. Her medications or their interactions, do not affect her behavior to the extent that would impair her ability to work physically, mentally and emotionally with student[s] in the Tacoma school district."<sup>27</sup>

Campbell's pain treatment was through the Seattle Pain Center, which stated in a January 20, 2012 letter to TPS:

Campbell's "medical treatment, including the [pain] prescriptions that I regulate for Teri's use, does not impair Teri's level of fitness for duty on a usual basis . . . I am confident that Teri is able to work physically, emotionally, and mentally with the students in the Tacoma School District while taking her usual medications as prescribed. During the three plus years that I have been treating her, the patient has been on a stable medication regimen and has been able to work without impairment to her fitness for duty.<sup>28</sup>

On December 5, 2012, eleven months after the physician's letters were submitted to TPS, Tacoma Public Schools issued a RCW 28A.405.300 Notice of Probable Cause ("NOPC")<sup>29</sup> alleging three grounds for discipline:

 Campbell reported or intended to report to work on November 2, 2011 under the influence of illegal chemical substances and opiates;

<sup>29</sup> CP 1291 – 1300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 287, January 13, 2012 letter from Dr. Reineman to TPS, admitted as part of Campbell's Exhibit "F," page 005, at the Statutory Haring See, CP 179, lines 7-25 and CP 180, lines 1-5, Statutory Hearing, May 31, 2013.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 290, January 20, 2012 letter from Sandra Dawson, ARNP, Seattle Pain Center, to Gayle Elijah, TPS director of Human Resources, admitted as part of Campbell's Exhibit "F," page 008, at the Statutory Hearing. See, CP 179, lines 7-25 and CP 180, lines 1-5, Statutory Hearing, May 31, 2013.

- Campbell violated TPS Policy No. 5201 by failing to report
  to her school principal that she was taking drugs or
  medications that might adversely affect her ability to
  perform work in a safe or productive manner, including
  drugs that are known or advertised as possibly affecting
  judgment, coordination, any of the senses or those which
  may cause drowsiness or dizziness; and,
- Campbell failed to report her conviction for a felony drugrelated offense to TPS.<sup>30</sup>

The RCW 28A.405.300/.310 Statutory Hearing Officer found that TPS had failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the "Under the Influence" allegation<sup>31</sup> and "Felony Conviction" allegation in the December 5, 2012 NOPC. However, the Statutory Hearing Officer found that TPS had met its burden of proof on the "Failure to Report" allegation.<sup>33</sup> Therefore, the Hearing Officer found sufficient cause for a

<sup>.&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Id

Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Decision, "Under the Influence" section at CP 17-18.

Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Decision, "Felony Conviction" section at CP 18-19.

Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Decision, "Failure to Report" section at CP 18.

15-day suspension without pay and the three-year random drug testing regimen sought by TPS.<sup>34</sup>

During the RCW 28A.405.300/.310 statutory hearing, the only evidence that TPS offered for the alleged violation of TPS Policy No. 5201<sup>35</sup> and subsequent discipline of Teri Campbell was a Google-type search in an unknown database by the TPS Director of Employee and Labor Relations for purported side-effects information regarding medications taken by Campbell.<sup>36</sup> TPS did not call any medical witnesses or medical experts at the statutory hearing.<sup>37</sup> Campbell objected to this evidence as not cognizable.<sup>38</sup> In contrast, Campbell proffered expert medical testimony at the statutory hearing that she was on a stable dose of opioid therapy in November 2011 – the time in which her automobile accident occurred;<sup>30</sup> that stable opioid therapy would not adversely affect her judgment, coordination and senses;<sup>40</sup> and, Campbell's diabetes, GBS, hypertension, on-going thyroid cancer treatment – "any of them could lead

Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Decision, "Final Decision," at CP 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> CP 809-810.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP 76, lines 4-8 and TPS Exhibit 9, at CP 790-791

The only witnesses called by TPS at the Statutory Hearing on May 30, 2013 and May 31, 2013, other than Teri Campbell, were Patrice Sulkosky, Principal at Mason Middle School (CP 559 – CP 564), Carla Santorno, TPS Superintendent (CP 571 – CP 585), Gayle Elijah, TPS Director of Employee and Labor Relations (CP 73 – CP 92), Lynne Rosellini, TPS Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources (CP 167 – CP 175) and Tacoma Police Department Officer Jeffery Robillard (CP 158 – CP 166).

<sup>38</sup> CP 959-960 and CP 881-882.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 109, lines 19-25 and CP 110, line 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> CP 110, lines 2-25 and CP 111, lines 1-14.

to the [November 2, 2011 black-out] episode that she had, "not her opioid therapy." Furthermore, her intrathecal pump and stable, opioid therapy allowed Campbell to work despite her complex medical history and pathology. 42

Campbell appealed the decision of the Statutory Hearing Officer to Superior Court pursuant to RCW 28A.405.320.<sup>43</sup> In her appeal to the Superior Court, Teri Campbell challenged:

- TPS's use of the unidentified website information about side-effects of her medications as being non-cognizable evidence;<sup>44</sup>
- TPS's violation of the ADA and Rehabilitation Act in its investigation of the November 2, 2011 accident wherein TPS made unlawful medical inquiries,<sup>45</sup> subjected Campbell to a psychiatric IME<sup>46</sup> and disparate treatment.<sup>47</sup>
- TPS's imposition of three-year random drug testing as being contrary to law;<sup>48</sup> and,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> CP 113, lines 4-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> CP 103-121.

<sup>43</sup> CP 1-3; CP 975-997; and, CP 998-1018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> CP 959-960 and CP 881-882.

<sup>45</sup> CP 2; CP 993-995; and, CP 1001.

<sup>\*\* &</sup>lt;u>ld</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> CP 3; CP 995-996; and, CP 1012-1014.

• TPS's imposition of a fifteen-day suspension as being arbitrary and capricious<sup>49</sup> under the circumstances of her case.

After reviewing the 940-page administrative record from the statutory hearing, <sup>50</sup> the briefs of the Parties <sup>51</sup> and holding oral argument, <sup>52</sup> the Superior Court found that:

- TPS's Policy 5201 was vague and enforcement would be arbitrary and violate public policy;<sup>53</sup>
- there was no cognizable evidence to support allegations that Campbell violated TPS Policy No. 5201;<sup>54</sup>
- the choice of disciplinary sanction by a school district is reviewed on appeal by the Superior Court to determine if it is arbitrary, capricious or contrary to law; 55 and,
- a mandatory three-year, random drug-testing regimen for a teacher as part of an RCW 28A.405.300/.310 process
   would be *ultra vires*, but the Superior Court did not need to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> CP 3, CP 996; and CP 104-1016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> CP 4 – CP 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> CP 975-997; CP 1019-1038, and CP 998-1018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> RP, February 28, 2014, pages 1-49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> CP 1346-1348.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> CP 1348-1351.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> CP 1352.

reach this issue because the Hearing Officer's decision was reversed. 56

As a result of these findings and conclusions of law, the Superior Court reversed the Hearing Officer's Decision, <sup>57</sup> awarded Campbell damages for her lost compensation <sup>58</sup> and awarded Campbell reasonable fees and costs for her appeal to Superior Court. <sup>59</sup> TPS appealed the Superior Court's decision to the Court of Appeals, Division II.

The Court of Appeals, Division II, reversed the Superior Court holding that: (1) "[a]Ithough [TPS] Policy 5201 is not a model of clarity, under a plain reading it is non unconstitutionally vague"; <sup>60</sup> (2) "there is substantial evidence to support the hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law upholding the District's probable cause determination"; <sup>61</sup> (3) "the imposed sanction of a 15-day unpaid suspension and 3-year drug testing requirement is not arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law"; <sup>62</sup> and, (4) the superior court's award of attorney fees and costs to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> CP 1351-1352.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> CP 1352

<sup>&</sup>quot; <u>Id</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> <u>Id.</u> and CP 1482-1483.

Court of Appeals, Division II, Published Opinion, Case No. 46067-0-II, dated March 8, 2016, as amended May 17, 2016, at page 10

<sup>61 &</sup>lt;u>Id.</u>, page 1.

<sup>62</sup> Id.

Campbell under RCW 28A.405.350 was not supported by any findings and was improper."63

### **ARGUMENT**

Contrary to Vinson, the Court of Appeals Conflates the RCW

28A.405.300 Probable Cause Standard for the Notice of Probable

Cause with the RCW 28A.405.310(8) Preponderance of the Evidence

Standard Required for an Adverse Contract Action

The Court of Appeals repeatedly referred to "probable cause" in its opinion:

- "the hearing officer found the District lacked <u>probable</u>

  <u>cause</u> for discipline" 64
- "substantial evidence did not support the District's probable cause determination or the hearing officer's decision" 65
- "we reinstate the hearing officer's decision upholding the District's probable cause determination" 66
- "there is substantial evidence to support the hearing officer's decision upholding the District's <u>probable cause</u> determination".

<sup>63</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Court of Appeals, Division II, Published Opinion, Case No. 46067-0-II, dated March 8, 2016, as amended May 17, 2016, fn. 2 at page 2.

<sup>65 &</sup>lt;u>Id</u>., at page 6.

<sup>66 &</sup>lt;u>Id.</u>, at page 12.

<sup>67 &</sup>lt;u>Id</u>, at page 16.

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