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

arguments, the Superior Court issued a Judgment and Final Order 

Reversing Hearing Officer's Decision. CP 1486-1498. Notwithstanding 

the absence of a constitutional challenge to Policy 5201 as vague, the 

Superior Court held that it was unenforceable on this basis sua sponte. CP 

1492-94. Moreover, even though Campbell never assigned error to any of 

the findings of fact supporting Judge Lukens' decision, the court held that 

"there is no cognitive [sic] evidence to support allegations that Ms. 

Campbell violated Policy 5201." CP 1494-97. On August 15, 2014, the 

Superior Court also entered an order over the District's objections 

awarding Campbell $2,676.11 in costs and $46,800.00 in attorney fees. 

CP 1499-1500. 
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E. Court of Appeals Decision Reversing Superior Court and 
Reinstating Hearing Officer's Decision 

The District appealed the Superior Court's decisions. CP 1338-52, 

1484-1500. On March 8, 2016 the Court of Appeals issued its opinion 

reversing the Superior Court and reinstating the Hearing Officer's 

decision. Campbell v. Tacoma Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 10, 192 Wn. App. 874, 

370 P.3d 33 (2015). The court ruled that the District's policy was not 

unconstitutionally vague and held that the Hearing Officer's findings of 

fact to which Campbell had not assigned error were verities on appeal. !d. 

at 886-88. As a result of the unchallenged findings of fact, it affirmed the 

Hearing Officer's conclusion that the District had established sufficient 

cause for Campbell's discipline. !d. at 888. Additionally, the court held 

that the sanctions imposed by the District, including the fifteen day 

suspension and the requirement for random drug testing, were neither 

arbitrary nor capricious. !d. at 890-91. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. This Court Should Deny Campbell's Petition for Review 

1. Campbell's Arguments Regarding the Applicable 
Standard of Proof are Moot, Because the Hearing 
Officer's Unchallenged Findings of Fact Are Verities on 
Appeal 

Campbell's first asserted basis for review is that the Court of 

Appeals did not clarify that preponderance of the evidence is the proper 
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standard for a Hearing Officer to apply and that it incorrectly used the 

language "probable cause" rather than "sufficient cause" in discussing this 

issue in its opinion. Petition for Review, pp. 13-14. Campbell's argument 

is without merit. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the Hearing 

Officer's decision must be reinstated was based on the fact that Campbell 

never assigned error to the pertinent findings of fact when she appealed to 

Superior Court: 

The hearing officer found that Campbell did not report the 
specific medications in her pain pump or her other 
medications to Principal Sulkosky, and Campbell did not 
dispute that the medications or their listed potential side 
effects. The hearing officer also found that the undisputed 
potential side effects of the medications could have 
potentially affected Campbell's ability to perform her job 
safely and productively. Campbell does not assign error to 
these findings, and therefore, they are verities on appeal. 

Campbell, 192 Wn. App. at 887-88 (emphasis added). Moreover, contrary 

to Campbell's argument, the Court of Appeals' holding recognized that 

the "sufficient cause" was established in light of the unchallenged findings 

of fact: 

Thus, we hold that the undisputed findings of fact support 
the hearing officer's conclusion that the District had 
sufficient cause to sanction Campbell for violating Policy 
5201 by failing to report her medications that could have 
potentially affected her ability to perform her job safety and 
productively. Accordingly, we reinstate the hearing 
officer's decision upholding the District's probable cause 
determination. 
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!d. at 888 (emphasis added). 

Campbell does not claim that the Court of Appeals erred in holding 

that the findings of fact were unchallenged, nor does she point to 

anywhere in the record where she did assign error to the relevant findings. 

It is well settled that unchallenged findings of fact of an agency's final 

decision are verities on appeal. Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dept., 122 

Wn.2d 397, 407, 858 P.2d 494 (1993); Roller v. Dept. of Labor & 

Industries, 128 Wn. App. 922, 927, 117 P.3d 385 (2005); Fuller v. 

Employment Sec. Dept., 52 Wn. App. 603, 605-06, 762 P.2d 367 (1988). 

Where an appellant fails to assign error to findings of fact, "it is 

unnecessary to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support 

the findings. They are the established facts of the case." Goodman v. 

Bethel School Dist., 84 Wn.2d 120, 124, 524 P.2d 918 (1974). Where 

findings of fact are unchallenged, the court is "concerned only with 

whether the challenged conclusions of law are supported by the findings 

of fact." !d. Given that Campbell did not challenge the relevant findings 

of fact of the Hearing Officer when she appealed his decision to Superior 

Court, the Court of Appeals properly treated those findings as verities and 

reversed the Superior Court. Campbell identifies no error by the Court of 

Appeals in its discussion of the applicable standard of proof in this case, 

much less any basis for this Court's review under RAP 13.4 (b). 
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2. Because the District Did Not Terminate Campbell, it 
Was Not Required to Establish Lack ofRemediability 

Campbell next incorrectly claims that the District was required 

show lack of remediability to impose a suspension. In making this 

argument, she relies exclusively on cases where school districts were 

terminating teachers.7 Here, the District did not terminate Campbell's 

employment. Rather, it merely imposed a fifteen-day suspension and 

random drug testing. As the Hearing Officer correctly found: 

The court in Griffith v. Seattle School District, 165 Wn. 
App. 663, 674 (2011) concluded that sufficient cause for 
suspension is different than sufficient cause for discharge, 
without specifically outlining which of the Hoagland 
factors will apply. It is clear, however, that Hoagland is 
satisfied here with respect to Ms. Campbell's use of 
medications that could adversely affect the health and 
safety of the children, without having reported such use to 
her supervisor and human relations so that they could take 
remedial steps, if necessary. 

CP 19. In Griffith - a case involving a suspension - the court noted that 

"not all eight [Hoagland] factors are applicable in every case, and they 

may not apply at all when the cause for discipline is the teacher's 

improper performance of her teaching duties." Griffith, 165 Wn. App. at 

673 (citing Clarke, 106 Wn.2d at 114)). 

7 Petition for Review, p.16 (citing Federal Way School Dist. No. 210 v. Vinson, 
172 Wn.2d 756,261 P.3d 145 (2011); Clarke v. Shoreline School Dist. No. 412, 106 
Wn.2d 102, 720 P.2d 793 (1986); and Hoagland v. Mt. Vernon School Dist. No. 320, 95 
Wn.2d 424, 623 P.2d 1156 (1981)) 
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In her petition, Campbell does not argue that the Court of Appeals 

in Griffith committed error or that this Court should overrule its holding. 

Thus, because Campbell was merely suspended temporarily and not 

terminated, the District was not required to prove that her conduct was not 

remediable. Indeed, the lower-level discipline of suspension was meant to 

provide Campbell with an opportunity to remediate her conduct. 

3. There is An Obvious Nexus Between a Teacher's 
Effectiveness and Potential Impairment That 
Jeopardizes Student Safety 

Campbell's suggestion that there is not an obvious nexus between 

her effectiveness as a teacher and her potential impairment from 

consumption of the drugs and medications at issue is preposterous. 

Petition for Review, pp. 16-17. Ensuring the safety of the students under 

her supervision is the most important aspect of Campbell's job. Had 

Campbell reported the drugs and medications she was consuming, the 

District could have taken steps to make certain that her students' safety 

were not placed in jeopardy. The terrible accident that occurred in this 

case while Campbell was on her way to school plainly illustrates the nexus 

that Campbell oddly claims is lacking. 
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4. The Random Retesting Requirement Was Not Ultra 
Vires 

Campbell's claim that the requirement that she submit to random 

drug testing was ultra vires is also without merit. This precise issue was 

decided in Yakima Police Patrolmen's Ass'n v. City of Yakima, 153 Wn. 

App. 541, 222 P.3d 1217 (2009). The Yakima Police Patrolmen's 

Association filed unfair labor practice (ULP) complaints with the Public 

Employment Relations Commission (PERC) against the City of Yakima 

alleging, among other claims, that the City "unilaterally changed its drug 

testing policy, without providing the union with an opportunity to 

bargain." Id at 548. The association's charge was based upon Yakima 

Officer Dahl's suspension from the force after he admitted to an addiction 

to prescription drugs. The City, as a condition of Officer Dahl's return to 

active duty, required him to submit to six months of mandatory random 

drug testing notwithstanding the City's then drug policy that only allowed 

for testing upon a showing of reasonable suspicion of drug abuse. !d. 

The hearing officer determined that the City committed the unfair 

labor practice of derivative interference with the collective bargaining 

rights of the Association for, in part, imposing six months of random drug 

testing on Dahl. PERC reversed and dismissed the complaint. The 

Superior Court and the Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal, noting: 
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PERC ultimately held that the City did not circumvent the 
Association when it discussed the terms of the 
reinstatement order with Dahl and that the City did not 
refuse to bargain the terms of the order. But PERC also 
concluded that, as soon as the City expressed a desire for a 
random drug testing policy that covered all bargaining unit 
employees and the Association responded with a proposal, 
the City was obligated to bargain. 

!d. at 546, fn. 1. Thus, the City was not required to bargain the imposition 

of individual discipline upon Dahl. Here, the District did not impose a 

random drug testing policy upon all District employees that would require 

it to bargain with Campbell's union. Rather, the District imposed 

individual discipline upon Campbell in the form of random drug testing. 

Campbell fails to cite any authority requiring individual discipline to be 

collectively bargained. 

5. Campbell's Claim that the District Violated the 
Americans with Disabilities Act is Baseless 

Campbell's conclusory assertion that the District's imposition of a 

random drug testing requirement violates the Americans with Disabilities 

Act ("ADA") is also baseless. While Campbell's medical condition may 

qualify as a disability, discipline may be imposed where the purpose is 

safety rather than discriminatory treatment. See, e.g., Collings v. 

Longview Fibre Co., 63 F .3d 828, 834 (91
h Cir. 1995) ("Because of safety 

concerns involving the large, fast-moving machinery at the plant, the rule 

against alcohol and drug-related misconduct was a justified occupational 
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standard"). In order to seek relief under the ADA, an employee must be 

able to perform a position's essential functions with or without reasonable 

accommodation. 29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(m); 42 U.S.C. §12111. Additionally, 

the ADA specifically permits an employer to establish qualification 

standards that may include physical, medical and safety requirements. 29 

C.F.R § 1630.2(q). Thus, in Clarke the Washington Supreme Court 

upheld the termination of a teacher of disabled children who was himself 

blind and hearing impaired, reasoning as follows: 

[A]n employer may discharge a handicapped employee 
who is unable to perform an essential function of the job, 
without attempting to accommodate that deficiency. In this 
case, the Superintendent gave as one of the reasons for 
Clarke's discharge and nonrenewal the fact that Clarke 
constituted "a hazard to the welfare and safety of students 
under [Clarke's] charge ... " As found by the hearing 
officer, this deficiency in Clarke's performance was 
attributable to his handicaps. Maintenance of the safety 
and welfare of retarded students clearly is an essential 
function of a teacher of such students, a function Clarke 
was unable to perform. In other words, Clarke was not 
"otherwise qualified" to teach. Accordingly, we hold the 
School District was not required to accommodate Clarke in 
the manner he requested. 

Clarke, 106 Wn.2d at 119. As Clarke illustrates, a teacher's impairment 

will not prohibit a school district from taking proper steps to ensure that 

the teacher can perform his or her job, especially when safety of students 

is a concern. Given that a lack of impairment is an essential function of a 
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teacher's position and necessary to maintain a safe classroom 

environment, the District's actions in this case were not discriminatory. 

Moreover, in order to establish a violation of the ADA, Campbell 

would be required to prove that the District's requirement that she notify 

her supervisor that she was taking drugs that might potentially impair her 

is not itself a reasonable accommodation of her disability. See, e.g., 

Humphrey v. Mem 'l Hasps. Ass 'n, 239 F.3d 1128, 1137 (91
h Cir. 2001) 

("An appropriate reasonable accommodation must be effective, in 

enabling the employee to perform the duties of the position.") The 

District did not terminate Campbell. It merely required that she provide 

appropriate notice that she was consuming drugs that might affect her 

ability to teach and/or the safety of her students, so that it could 

appropriately monitor the issue and take further steps to ensure student 

safety if necessary. The court should thus reject Campbell's claims that 

there was any showing of a violation of the ADA or any other laws 

governing disability discrimination. 

6. Campbell Has Never Previously Raised Any Claim that 
the District Violated EEOC Guidelines, and this Issue 
Would Therefore Not Be Properly Before the Court on 
Review 

Absent particular circumstances involving described RAP 2.5 (a), 

this court will not review matters raised for the first time on appeal. For 

16 



the first time in this case, Campbell claims that the District's conduct 

violated unspecified EEOC guidelines. Petition for Review, pp.18-19. 

This issue was never raised by Campbell at any stage below. None of the 

exceptions in RAP 2.5 (a) applies here, and this issue is therefore not 

properly before the Court for the first time in her petition for review. 

B. If this Court Accepts Review, it Should Also Review the Court 
of Appeals' Conclusion that Campbell Was Not Barred By 
the Collective Bargaining Agreement from Challenging the 
District's Random Drug Testing Requirement 

If this Court accepts review of Campbell's claim that imposing a 

random drug testing requirement is ultra vires, it should also review the 

Court of Appeals' conclusion that she was not precluded by the CBA from 

making this challenge. Campbell, 192 Wn. App. at 888, fn.8. Where a 

claim against an agency is cognizable as a grievance under a CBA, the 

CBA's grievance process must be exhausted before a court will intervene. 

See, e.g., Moran v. Stowell, 45 Wn. App. 70, 75, 724 P.2d 396 (1986). The 

CBA in the instant case requires that employees be disciplined for cause and 

prohibits the District from disciplining employees "for an arbitrary and 

capricious reason." CP 1068. The CBA definition of a grievance is "a claim 

based upon an alleged violation of this Agreement, written District policies, 

regulations and rules adopted by the Board .... " CP 1163. The four-level 

grievance process begins with a discussion between the employee and his or 
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her immediate supervisor, and may be escalated all the way to binding 

arbitration if a mutually agreeable resolution is not reached first. CP 1164-

66. Under the CBA, an employee must make a formal Level II written 

grievance "within fifty (50) business days of the act or the creation of the

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